FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/26/2019 12:53 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Division One No. 76354-7-I Supreme Court No. 97088-2

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CARLSON, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

THE BOEING COMPANY, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

Amended APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Dan'L W. Bridges, WSBA # 24179 McGaughey Bridges Dunlap, PLLC 3131 Western Avenue, Suite 410 Seattle, WA 98121 (425) 462 - 4000

TABLE OF 5CONTENTS

A.	Identity of Petitioner	
B.	Court of Appeals Decision	
C.	Overview of Issues on Review	
D.	Issues Presented For Review	
E.	Facts	
	1. Boeing Had Actual Notice Of Disability

A. Identity of Petitioner

Susan Carlson is the petitioner and was the plaintiff at trial.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

Ms. Carlson seeks review of the attached Court of Appeals decision.

C. Overview of Issues on Review

The Court of Appeals' decision contradicts <u>Goodman v. Boeing</u>, 75 Wn.App. 60 (1994) and <u>Kimbro v. Atlantic Richfield</u>, 889 F.2d 869 (9th Cir. 1989). It reverses twenty years of disability discrimination protection.

Boeing fired appellant for behavior it knew was caused by a mental disability it purposely kept its discipline decision makers ignorant of then argued that intentional ignorance as a defense: "Its just a logical impossibility that somebody can discriminate if they don't even know the person they are making a decision about has the protected characteristic…" VRP 1313-1314. The Court of Appeals' affirmed that intentional ignorance defense. It is explicitly rejected by Goodman, Kimbro, and the WLAD.

Boeing offered defenses and evidence contrary to law. It had to; it admitted it applied an illegal policy against appellant:

- Q: ...the fact the behavior is caused by a mental impairment... doesn't matter, you're still going to discipline them for the behavior, even though the behavior is caused by a mental impairment; correct?
- A: I that's the process, yes.

VRP 84 and VRP 1165-6. <u>Riehl v. Foodmaker</u>, 152 Wn.2d 138, 152 (2004)

found that is discrimination: "conduct resulting from the disability... is part of the disability and not a separate basis for termination."

In addition to years of disability history, Boeing had a report the conduct it fired appellant for was caused by disabilities. Boeing asserted it has no duty to account for disability if it learns of it after the employee has a problem. Its medical officer testified: "there is a principle in the disability law that talks about the fact that you don't have to excuse conduct if somebody brings up the disability after the conduct." VRP 986.

D. <u>Issues Presented For Review</u>

- 1. Whether an employer can escape WLAD duties by keeping decision makers ignorant of information known by the employer;
- 2. Whether Boeing offering defenses contrary to the WLAD was error;
- 3. Whether (a) the exclusion of comparator evidence and (b) the admission of evidence of character and past acts was error;
- 4. Whether the trial court's instructions to the jury were error;
- 5. Whether the trial court erred denying appellant's motions for summary judgment, directed verdict, and JNOV.
- 6. Whether review should be accepted of other errors assigned by appellant to Division One that Division One did not correct.

E. Facts

Ms. Carlson was hired November 1996, Tr.Ex. 6, and fired October 2013. Tr.Ex. 3. Boeing asserts it fired her because of a "threat" she made to

Boeing had notice <u>before</u> the conduct as well. <u>Infra</u>.

her manager on August 12, 2013. Tr.Ex. 1, p. 2 and Tr.Ex. 5.

1. <u>Boeing Had Actual Notice Of Disability</u>

Ms. Carlson was sexually abused for years starting at age 15. VRP 465-471, 612, 684. She did not disclose the abuse but when hired reported having PTSD and "counseling" for it. Tr. Ex. 9, p.3.

Ms. Carlson took two, three month medical leaves for "work stress." Tr. Ex.9, p. 5. June 19 to August 22, 2001 she was off; her doctor told Boeing she had "major depression, recurrent, moderate... is experiencing anxiety and depression related to work stress." <u>Id</u>. Boeing found the "cause of injury" was a "stress incident" in a "conference room," <u>id</u>. at p.8, and required she be "under the appropriate care of a mental health professional...and/or in treatment..." (Tr.Ex.10, p.4) It approved FMLA leave for a "serious health condition that makes you unable to perform the essential functions of your job." <u>Id</u>. at p. 1 and 9.

She took a second medical leave from April 15 to July 1, 2010 for the same thing, identified by Boeing as an "injury" of a "stress incident" in a "conference room." TrEx 9, p. 15. Again, her doctor told Boeing she needed time off because of the stress of the meeting, <u>id</u>. at p. 13. Boeing again recorded the disability and "notified" her "supervisor/lead" <u>Id</u>. at p. 15.

Boeing never initiated an accommodation process despite twice being told of an ongoing disability it acknowledged affected Ms. Carlson's ability to "perform the essential functions of (her) job." Tr.Ex. 10, 1-10.

Boeing suspended Ms. Carlson after the threat, ordering her to its psychologist to "determine why (she) engaged in the behavior (the threat) in the first place." 11/3 VRP 77. Boeing required that report <u>before</u> a discipline decision was made, Tr. Ex. 14, p. 11, and for her to sign a release so the psychologist could "report (to Boeing)... my findings from this assessment." The release said "all information obtained during assessment will be shared with (your) employer." Tr.Ex. 39. The psychologist admitted he told Ms. Carlson he would tell Boeing everything she said. VRP 461-2.

Boeing told Ms. Carlson: "you're not allowed to talk to anyone who works for Boeing" other than its psychologist. VRP 782, 789. That was the place to explain what happened and seek help. VRP 782-5. She told the psychologist of her abuse, counseling, work stress triggers and why her behavior resulted from her emotional/mental disability. VRP 645-6,470-2.

The psychologist's report told Boeing she "spent multiple years in therapy," "has not processed some of her early experiences (sexual and other abuse) to completion," and was "scared" when she made the threat. Tr.Ex. 2, p. 5. He identified impairments that caused, including a "limited set of coping resources for dealing with stress" at work, an "increas(ed) likelihood that she will misinterpret the actions of others" and that "appears to be particularly likely in the case of her current manager" who she allegedly threatened. Id.

Those are impairments under RCW 49.60.040(7)(c)(ii) directly related to Ms. Carlson's behavior with Heckt. The psychologist reported she saw him "as a threat to her safety," recommending she be "made aware of... available mental health benefits." He diagnosed "Anxiety Disorder" with "Posttraumatic features" saying she had "difficulty regulating emotions." <u>Id</u>.

Despite that, Division One found the report did not link her impairments to her behavior. That ignores (1) Boeing's admission the <u>purpose</u> of the report was to determine "why (she) engaged in the behavior (the threat) in the first place," 11/3 VRP 77, (identifying disabilities alongside the behavior evaluated makes that link), and (2) the language of the report.

A decision maker who voted to fire Ms. Carlson was shown the report at deposition for the first time and asked if she read it as Ms. Carlson's "behavior was, at least in part, cause by an anxiety disorder" she replied: "Yes, that's what he's saying." 11/3 VRP 121. Carlson's HR expert testified no HR employee could read it differently. VRP 384, 386.

Ms. Carlson told HR she was "trigger(ed) and (it) caused me to behave in a way that I – even I – myself cannot fully control." 11/13 VRP 181-2. Boeing's investigator admitted she told him the same thing, but he told no one saying, "that is not part of my job." VRP 1206.

Boeing admitted in closing it knew of the disabilities, VRP 1316, ("Boeing did get notice of the impairment after she saw Dr. Bailey...").

Boeing's Chief Medical Officer conceded that as well:

There is no question she has a mental health disorder. She's had depression. She's had anxiety. There's no question.

VRP 1004. She admitted they were present at the time of the threat. VRP1005.

2. Ms. Carlson's Conduct Was Not Considered A Threat

In 2013 Ms. Carlson transferred from a female manager to Richard Heckt. Tr Ex 11, p. 57, VRP 1035. She felt he had an aggressive and dictatorial style. VRP 769-770. He consistently reassigned her projects nearing completion to men thus depriving her the goal accomplishment necessary to progress forward at Boeing. <u>Id</u>. 716, 719-722, 728.

This continued until April 2013 when Heckt during a conference room meeting reassigned another project nearing completion to a male. VRP 725-727. That was a trigger. Ms. Carslon felt the same stress and inability to cope as past conference room incidents causing prior leaves. VRP 729-730. She left to deescalate her stress. <u>Id</u>. Heckt admitted she did so. VRP 1042-5.

In August 2013 Heckt conducted a performance review of Ms. Carlson. Tr Ex 11, p. 58. She was told to sit at a table opposite the door, Heckt and a male manager sat across, VRP 751-2, putting them between her and the door; she felt physically trapped. VRP 926. Ms. Carlson testified Heckt acted aggressively and was hostile. VRP 751-3. She gave her presentation. Heckt interrupted saying "now let's do what we came here for," and for the first time in 18 years reviewed her low <u>all</u> categories. VRP 753, Tr Ex. 11, p. 58.

Heckt blamed her for having "broken" the "relationship" by leaving his April meeting to descelate stress. VRP 753-4. He admitted that soured the relationship. VRP 1042-5. She told him she "needed to leave the meeting." He said, their "relationship is broken and it is 100 percent your fault." Id.

Ms. Carlson testified that was a trigger: I "traveled back to 15, 16 years old, and I related to my sexual abuse experience where I was told that everything was my fault..." VRP 754. She relived "all that shame of my youth," "felt fear," "I'm going to die. I'm scared." VRP 755-757. <u>Boeing's psychologist admitted she told him that during the evaluation</u>. VRP 471-2 ("That's what she reported, yes.") Dr. Covell, retained for trial, testified that was a PTSD trigger and caused what happened next. VRP 618, 620-1.

Ms. Carlson testified she wanted to illustrate how Heckt made her feel. VRP 755-7. She parroted how he walked to the table and glared. <u>Id</u>. His response was to laugh. <u>Id</u>. at 758. Dr. Covell testified that heightened the PTSD reaction and she experienced "hyperarousal symptoms." <u>Id</u>. at 673.

She "blurted," "this makes me --- it makes me feel like I want to get a gun or a knife." VRP 758-759. She testified she gasped and "immediately" said "that was not a threat." "I wanted to explain – I got battered – I said, that wasn't a threat. I'm a battered woman and you can't treat me like this." <u>Id</u>.

Heckt testified identically. VRP 1067. He "understood it as being an illustration of feelings" and no threat. VRP 1085, 1069-70. Tr. Ex. 42, p. 2.

He emailed HR and Security confirming that. Tr. Ex. 41. No person saw it as a threat; they continued and she went back to work. VRP 760, 775, 1082.

Ms. Carlson emailed him confirming it was no threat, but a statement of "feelings and fear of harm." Tr Ex. 41. She said "I do not think this is a healthy environment," asking to be "reassigned." <u>Id</u>. She took the next week off using sick time for this third, conference room stress incident. VRP 774. Heckt admitted he knew she took sick time. VRP 776, 1076, Tr Ex 44.

Boeing's policies required Heckt to immediately report any threat to security and for security to immediately suspend the employee until an investigation takes place. TrEx 14, p. 8 and VRP 427. Heckt did not call security. VRP 1090, 11/3 VRP 45. Only after Ms. Carlson sent her email did he contact HR, forwarding it for "input." TrEx 41, p.2. Policy also requires HR to immediately call security. TrEx. 14, p. 8 and VRP 38. HR also did not view it as a threat and did not call security. VRP 1090, 11/3 VRP 45. Security was not contacted until the following week and Heck ignored its calls for another week. VRP 1090, 1214. HR knew that and did nothing. 11/3 VRP 52. No one viewed this as a threat. Ms. Carlson came back from sick leave and worked 2 weeks before being suspended. Tr Ex 113, VRP 768.

Once Heckt responded, he identified the mental health issue: "I am not a psychiatrist so won't venture too far but to say that she is apparently transferring a large amount of built up anger onto me." Tr Ex 117, p. 1. That

is essentially identical to what Boeing's psychologist reported. Supra.

When Ms. Carlson returned from leave Heckt met her, telling HR: "she agreed without fuss to adhere to the behavior guidelines I gave her." Tr Ex 52. HR's reply: "...That is really great news Rick. I am really glad to hear it went well." Id. She worked until suspended August 26. TrEx 113, VRP 768.

3. <u>Boeing's Response To Ms. Carlson's Conduct</u>

Boeing's policy required a human resources generalist (HRG) to shepherd the investigation, Tr.Ex.14,p.8, and an investigator from Security to conduct a fact investigation and submit a report. <u>Id</u>. at 10, Tr.Ex. 15, p. 7. At the same time, the psychological evaluation discussed above is to take place. Tr.Ex. 20. Boeing's Chief Medical Officer (Dr. Cain) admitted once all that is complete, its policies require it to "pull the (employee's) entire medical record," review the report, and consider "the entire picture of the employee's health status and what we know about the employee's medical history" to "make the decision about what we (Boeing) may need to do. VRP 991.

Dr. Cain admitted "no one from Boeing" did that. VRP 992.

Boeing has a discipline committee to evaluate misconduct. Tr Ex 18. The HRG compiles all information and provides it to the committee's chairperson. Tr.Ex15, p. 7. That chairperson admitted the committee knows there has been a psych report because policy requires it. 11/3 VRP 167, VRP 1165. The committee evaluates all information against a conduct matrix with

discipline outcomes to decide discipline, if any. TrEx 18, p 9.

Boeing's policy is to withhold from the committee any disability that may have caused the behavior under review. VRP 46-48, 1008, 1130. 11/3 88. It has no process after the committee decides, to pass the decision to a person with knowledge before punishment is administered. VRP 1012. Boeing's testimony and argument was (1) its policy is it does not matter the behavior was caused by disability, it fires them anyway, VRP 11/3 84, 1165, and (2) it can ignore a disability if it learns of it after the conduct. VRP 986.

F. ARGUMENT

1. <u>Boeing's Ignorance Defense Requires A New Trial</u>

Ms. Carlson moved in limine to bar Boeing arguing the ignorance it intentionally created was a defense. VRP 38-9, 53, 55, 79. The trial court denied the motion and Division One erred not finding that error.

An employer cannot claim as a defense, ignorance it creates. First, basic agency principles charge decision makers with the entity's knowledge even if ignorant of it. McVicar v. Peters, 12 Wn.2d 92, 120 (1942). It is "absurd" to protest otherwise. Id. See also State v. Parada, 75 Wn. App. 224, 230–31 (1994). Second, the WLAD rejects it. See Goodman and Kimbro.

Goodman charged Boeing with knowledge it did not have: an outside workers comp program knew Goodman aggravated a previous injury. 75 Wn.App. at 64. The work continued, the injury worsened, plaintiff quit. Id.

As here, Boeing argued that because its managers did not know of the aggravation (the disability) it had no WLAD duty to act on it.² <u>Id</u>. <u>Goodman</u> rejected that: "knowledge of the agent will be imputed to the principal." <u>Id</u>. Boeing was "bound by" the "notification directed towards" its "agent" because the agent was to "convey (information) to Boeing Medical" to take action and the "personnel department of that particular Boeing employee division...would take whatever action they felt was appropriate." <u>Id</u>. at 86. That was the exact same policy Boeing had in this case. <u>Supra</u>.

No one at Boeing knew of Goodman's disability but was accountable because its outside agent knew. Here, Boeing had actual knowledge of Ms. Carlson's disabilities but still was allowed to offer evidence/argument it was not accountable because it intentionally kept its discipline committee ignorant. That nullifies the WLAD and contradicts Goodman.

<u>Kimbro</u> reached the same result. As here, the employer used a committee to make discipline decisions. 889 F.2d at 876. Plaintiff was late and missed work due to headaches. <u>Id</u>. He did not request accommodation and "ARCO management personnel who made the final decision to discharge Kimbro were personally unaware..." <u>Id</u>. at 875. As here, ARCO argued it

Division One distinguished <u>Goodman</u> saying Boeing knew of the disability. That is wrong. One manger knew of an <u>earlier</u> injury in May 1987. The knowledge imputed was from June 1987 when Goodman's doctor wrote a <u>new</u> report on an "aggravation" of the <u>previous</u> injury. 75 Wn.App. at 64. <u>Goodman</u> imputed knowledge of the later aggravation <u>not</u> known by Boeing. <u>Id</u>. at 86. Division One errs on what was imputed.

"could not be held liable... since the ARCO management personnel who made the decision to terminate Kimbro were not aware that many of Kimbro's absences were attributable to his cluster migraine condition." <u>Id.</u> at 874. But, his "medical record indicate(d) that he has been plagued by cluster migraines" for years. Id. at 875. Applying the WLAD, Kimbro rejected an ignorance defense: "it is well settled under Washington law that the principal is chargeable with, and bound by, the knowledge of or notice to his agent received while the agent is acting as such within the scope of his authority and in reference to a matter over which his authority extends." Id. at 876 (Washington cases omitted). Citing Zwink v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 13 Wn.App. 560, 566 (1975), <u>Kimbro</u> explained "traditional agency principles are fully applicable in the employment context." Kimbro, 889 F.2d at 876. <u>Kimbro</u> held "it is clear" <u>Arco as the employer</u> "is bound" to its employees' and agents' knowledge even if the decision makers were ignorant. Id. at 876. "Arco, as a matter of law, was on notice... (and) should be held responsible..." Id. at 877.

Division One distinguished Goodman and Kimbro saying

In each case, a supervisor knew about the employee's disability and its impact on the employee's work... In contrast, Carlson did not show that Heckt or EAP knew she had PTSD and that it affected her ability to work."

<u>Carlson</u> at 7-8. That was error. That does not distinguish the cases.

First, Boeing knew before termination of Ms. Carlson's "PTSD,"

"major recurrent depression," "anxiety disorder," and the other psychological impairments reported by its psychologist. It was in Boeing's files, Tr.Exs. 2; Ex. 9, p. 3, p. 5, inter alia., and admitted in closing and testimony. Supra.

Second, Division One miscomprehends <u>Kimbro</u> and <u>Goodman</u>. In <u>Kimbro</u> the issue (as here) was <u>not</u> whether the employee's managers knew, it was whether the employer may use their ignorance of the employer's knowledge as a defense. <u>Kimbro</u> is identical to Boeing's ignorant discipline committee, imputing the employer's knowledge to the committee despite its ignorance. On <u>Goodman</u>, the facts here are "worse." In <u>Goodman</u> Boeing knew of a <u>prior</u> injury, <u>not</u> the <u>later</u> aggravation but knowledge was imputed. Here, Boeing actually knew the disability <u>and</u> it kept its committee ignorant.

The trial court and Division One also distinguished them as accommodation cases. Ms. Carlson made an accommodation claim and still Boeing was allowed to argue ignorance. More important, being accommodation cases is not distinguishing; that requires a lesser protection from disparate treatment. The WLAD has different duties for accommodation and disparate treatment with notice, but what constitutes notice of a disability is not different. Once an employer has notice, it must account for it. See RCW 49.60.040(7) and Clipse v. CDS, 189 Wn.App. 776, 793 (2015).

It conflicts the WLAD to require an employer with imputed notice of an impairment to account for it on accommodation, but ignore it on incentivizes firing the disabled as Boeing did: we had no duty to accommodate because we fired her for behavior caused by the disability first. To not protect the behavior caused by a mental disability would protect such "in name only." Gambini v. Total Renal Care, 486 F.3d 1087, 1095 (9th Cir. Wash 2007).

Division One erred concluding there was no prejudice assuming error because there was evidence supporting a verdict: (1) There was not sufficient evidence given Boeing admitted its policy to fire employees for behavior caused by disability and that it did so here, (2) reasonable minds could not differ based Boeing's 10 years of notice of the same disability linked to meetings plus the psychologist's report, and (3) even if it could be said there was evidence Ms. Carlson's behavior was not caused by disability, Division One applied the wrong standard of error; the issue is not, as Division One held, whether there was evidence a jury could use to find the behavior was not caused by disability, it is whether the testimony and argument of false ignorance may be presumed to have "affect(ed) the outcome of the trial."

When inadmissible evidence "was such a minor feature it could scarcely have impacted the jury's determination of nonliability" it cannot be said to have effected the trial. <u>Id</u>. <u>Diaz</u> found inadmissible evidence coming

"up twice," and only going to damages where the jury returned a defense verdict, did not meet the standard. <u>Id</u>. Evidence "could have affected the outcome if the jury used it to change its assessment on liability." <u>Id</u>. at 474.

The ignorance of Boeing's discipline committee was <u>not</u> a "minor feature" of trial. It was its primary theme introduced in opening, repeated in testimony, and argued in closing. Boeing told the jury to make "its assessment on liability" on it. It abused discretion to admit that evidence and improper legal theory. <u>See Brouillet v. Cowles Pub. Co.</u>, 114 Wn.2d 788, 802 (1990) and <u>State v. Pegs</u>, 178 Wn.App. 1034, 8 (2013). A new trial is required.

2. The Court Improperly Instructed The Jury

Instruction 22 instructed it was illegal for Boeing to consider the 10 years of disability information it <u>already</u> had unless provided a new release to consider it at the time. CP 135. Boeing argued 29 CFR 1630.14 supported the instruction. It did not, that CFR only addresses how reports from compelled medical examinations are handled. The instruction omitted that, telling the jury a new release was required for "medical information" Ms. Carlson already voluntarily gave Boeing over 10 years before it could be considered. Ms. Carlson took exception. VRP 1234-1235, CP 144-145.

Review is "de novo" requiring reversal when "an instruction's erroneous statement of the applicable law… prejudices a party." <u>Hue v.</u> <u>Farmboy Spray Co., Inc.</u>, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92 (1995). When an instruction

makes a "clear misstatement of law, prejudice is presumed and is grounds for reversal unless it can be shown that the error was harmless." Fergen v. Sestero, 182 Wn.2d 794, 803 (2015). Instruction 22 was a "misstatement of law." It misstated the CFR and contradicted Goodman and Kimbro; it effectively nullified Boeing's 10 years of disability notice. That is how Boeing argued it, VRP 1330-1, even making a speaking objection in Ms. Carlson's closing to that effect, VRP 1353, and has never offered an explanation how, if error, that was "harmless."

The court erred not giving plaintiff's proposed instruction 14 that it is not a defense to treat the disabled the same as the non-disabled. CP 18, VRP 1236. Boeing testified throughout that was a defense. VRP 43, 51-54, 1236. 11/3 VRP 94, 575, and closing VRP 1309. That misstates the law: "Identical treatment may be a source of discrimination in the case of the handicapped." Gambini, 486 F.3d at 1095. Argument contrary to the law should result in a new trial. See ALCOA v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 539 (2000). It is error to refuse an instruction where "the subject matter is (not) adequately covered in the court's other instructions." Cf. State v. Etheridge, 74 Wn.2d 102, 110 (1968). Ms. Carlson moved in limine to exclude such argument, CP 168, was denied, and no instruction "covered" the issue. Refusing the instruction was error requiring a new trial. Its "...use is prejudicial, for the reason that it is impossible to know what effect they may have on the verdict."

Hall v. Catholic Archbishop of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 797, 804 (1972).

3. The Court Improperly Excluded Comparator Evidence

Boeing requires a detailed investigation, report, and committee vote for every threat. TrEx 14. Ms. Carlson discovered investigation reports of many threats, much worse than her's, where the employee had no disability and was not terminated. TrEx 22-39 (summarized in the appendix). She offered only 17 as comparator evidence: she was treated less favorably than the non-disabled and it would have been reasonable to accommodate her as others were not fired and her accommodations were reasonable and would work. VRP 13-21, 27-30, 33-35, 172, 176-178, 182, 183-184.

The Court ruled they were not relevant and only admissible to "impeach" Boeing as inconsistent. VRP 169. It excluded the reports and gave a sanitized script of what appellant could say about only 5. VRP 178-180, 370-378. But, it allowed Boeing to offer more, creating the appearance Ms. Carlson withheld evidence. VRP 1135-9 and 1140-4. When she responded with the reports, Boeing repeatedly objected she was "purposefully misrepresenting" them and was sustained, VRP 1156-7, despite the fact Ms. Carlson was only trying to read directly from them. VRP 1268, 1269.

The trial court applied the wrong standard; it expressly applied ER 608(b) finding it was evidence of impeachment by prior acts. VRP 18. It was not. Comparator evidence is relevant in discrimination cases. See Lauer v.

Longevity Medical Clinic, 2104 WL 5471983, p. 5 (WD Wash 2014). The evidence should have been balanced under ER 403; it was error not do so. See Erickson v. Kerr, 125 Wn.2d 183, 190 (1994). Applying the wrong standard is a per se abuse of discretion. State v. Gentry, 183 Wn.2d 749, 764 (2015).

The exclusion was prejudicial. Limiting her to only five and sanitizing them lent support to Boeing's claim it was a threat-free environment – it was not. It deprived Ms. Carlson material, comparator evidence. Allowing Boeing to go beyond what Ms. Carlson could offer and sustaining objections she "misrepresented" them when she was merely only the actual reports was a comment on the evidence and prejudicial. VRP 1156-7.

4. The Trial Court Improperly Admitted Evidence

Boeing turned the trial into a character assassination going back 10 years in Ms. Carlson's journal to paint her as an unhappy person mad at her boss. VRP 837-9, 1326. Boeing was allowed to ask one witness, referring to an email the witness did not even write, whether she agreed with the email's author that Ms. Carlson was "condescending." 11/3 VRP 147-8.

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