FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/28/2019 12:21 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 76354-7-I Supreme Court No. 97088-2

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CARLSON,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

## THE BOEING COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Laurence A. Shapero, WSBA 31301 OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, SMOAK & STEWART, P.C. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 5150 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: 206.876.5301

Facsimile: 206.693.7058 laurence.shapero@ogletree.com

Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent The Boeing Company

# **

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

## III. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4, "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). None of these criteria is satisfied here, and the Court should deny Carlson's petition for review.

# A. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Any Existing Case Law.

Carlson's primary argument for review rests on a purported conflict between the Court of Appeals' resolution of her "imputed knowledge" argument and two prior cases: *Goodman v. Boeing*, 75 Wn. App. 60 (1994), and *Kimbro v. Atl. Richfield*, 889 F.2d 869 (9th Cir. 1989). Invoking *Goodman* and *Kimbro*, Carlson asserts that because some Boeing employees purportedly had knowledge of her PTSD and its alleged connection to the threats she made to her manager, that knowledge necessarily was imputed to Boeing's ECARB at the time it made the decision to terminate Carlson for making those threats. There are several independent reasons to reject this argument for review.

First, this issue simply is not presented on the facts of this case. In arguing otherwise, Carlson mischaracterizes the evidentiary record (which of course is construed deferentially in Boeing's favor after a jury verdict) and ignores the Court of Appeals' reasoning.

The Court of Appeals repeatedly explained that Carlson's "imputed knowledge" theory was irrelevant because "substantial evidence" developed at trial "supports a conclusion that Boeing did not have direct or constructive notice of her PTSD." Op. 19. Even if one imputed *all* of Boeing's knowledge to the ultimate decision-makers who voted to terminate Carlson's employment—or, in the words of the Court of Appeals, "[e]ven if ECARB and Boeing's administration had access to all of Carlson's files"—it would make no difference because "they would still not have had any information connecting PTSD to the conduct for which it fired her." *Id.* at 14.

As a result of that assessment of the evidentiary record, the Court of Appeals never reached the legal issues that Carlson presses in her petition. The Court of Appeals never decided whether, in evaluating Carlson's disparate treatment claim, knowledge of other Boeing actors should be imputed to the ECARB. Carlson failed to establish that there was any relevant knowledge to impute to the ECARB to begin with, as the Court of Appeals stressed throughout its decision. *See id.* at 15 ("Carlson fails to

demonstrate that Boeing had notice of her disability[.]"); id. at 17 ("The record includes substantial evidence supporting the conclusion that Boeing did not have notice of her disability[.]"); id. at 19 ("Carlson did not show that Heckt or EAP knew she had PTSD and that it affected her ability to work.."); id. at 20-21 ("Neither Heckt nor ECARB knew about Carlson's disability when Boeing fired her."); id. at 23 ("Carlson does not establish that Boeing or EAP had information linking her conduct to PTSD at the time Boeing fired her."); id. ("Carlson did not show that any of the information possessed by EAP and by Boeing at the time of termination ... established that Carlson had PTSD or that it caused her conduct."); id. at 24 ("Carlson did not establish a prima facie case for discrimination because she did not establish that Boeing had notice."); id. at 25 ("[Carlson] failed to demonstrate that Boeing knew about her disability and its connection to her behavior."); id. at 27 ("Carlson needed to show that Boeing had notice of her disability and fired her because of it. As indicated above, she failed to do this.").

Although Carlson may prefer to ignore this significant evidentiary gap in her trial presentation, it was the basis for much of the Court of Appeals' decision, and it dispels any alleged conflict with existing case law.

Indeed, Carlson's second major problem is that the Court of Appeals' opinion is fully consistent with the two precedents Carlson cites—

as the Court of Appeals itself explained. *Id.* at 18. In *Goodman*, unlike this case, the plaintiff presented substantial evidence demonstrating that her supervisors knew about her disability (tennis elbow and osteoarthritis) and its impact on her work performance (increased difficulty microfilming airplane manuals) at the time of the challenged employment decision (a failure to accommodate), yet failed to accommodate her regardless. 75 Wn. App. at 64-65; *see also id.* at 74-75 (stressing that the plaintiff's supervisor "was well acquainted with Goodman's medical problems"). Similarly, in *Kimbro*, the record before the federal court showed that the plaintiff's supervisor was "fully aware of the fact that [his] headaches were a manifestation of a serious medical condition" and caused the plaintiff's violations of the employer's attendance policy that led a different group of managers to discharge his employment. 889 F.2d at 875.<sup>1</sup>

In both cases, the supervisors' knowledge of the plaintiffs' disabilities supported the inference that the employers as a whole had such knowledge when they allegedly failed to accommodate the plaintiffs'

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In fact, the employer in *Kimbro* did not even dispute that its supervisor's knowledge of the plaintiff's medical condition was imputable to the company; instead, the employer argued that the supervisor's imputed knowledge did not create liability because the supervisor did not know the medical condition constituted a "handicap" within the meaning of the statute. *Kimbro*, 889 F.2d at 877 n.6 ("ARCO neither disputes the fact that Jackson knew Kimbro suffered from a severe migraine condition nor that such knowledge is imputable to ARCO."). The Ninth Circuit rejected that theory as being "clearly frivolous." *Id*.

disabilities. As the Court of Appeals stressed time and again, the facts here were the opposite: "substantial evidence supports a conclusion that Boeing did not have direct or constructive notice of her PTSD and that it affected her work." Op. 19. There simply is no tension at all—let alone any conflict—between the decision here and Goodman and Kimbro, as the Court of Appeals explained. *Id.* at 18-19. Carlson never grapples with the appellate court's sound reasoning on this score.<sup>2</sup>

#### В. Carlson's Secondary Arguments Similarly Provide No Basis For This Court's Review.

Carlson's remaining arguments are similarly unsound, and certainly do not satisfy the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)—nor does Carlson try to argue otherwise.

First, Carlson's claimed instructional errors—to jury instruction 21 (which Carlson calls instruction 22) and jury instruction 14—were appropriately resolved by the Court of Appeals, which turned aside

-9-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Goodman also considered an imputed-knowledge theory concerning Boeing's third-party workers' compensation claims agent, holding that the trial court appropriately instructed that the agent's undisputed notice of the plaintiff's disability and its effects on the plaintiff's work could be imputed to Boeing. 75 Wn. App. at 85-86. Carlson's petition stresses this aspect of Goodman, but she again misses the point. After all, there was no dispute that the claims agent had notice of the disability in the first instance, which was susceptible to imputation to Boeing. Id. at 86. Here, by contrast, Carlson failed to persuade the jury that Boeing or any of its agents (neither Heckt, nor EAP, nor anyone else) was aware of her PTSD or that it caused her to make threats to Heckt, a foundational shortcoming that dispels any imputed-knowledge theory from the start.

Carlson's challenge for failure to show prejudice on the facts of this case. These rulings were closely connected to Carlson's failure to establish that Boeing had notice of her disability. Op. 20-22. In other words, the Court of Appeals did not venture any novel interpretation of Washington law in resolving these instructional challenges. It simply found no basis to address the broader legal questions given Carlson's case-specific, evidentiary shortcomings before the jury.

Second, Carlson's continued disagreement with the trial court's exclusion of cumulative comparator evidence under ER 403 provides no basis for review. This discretionary evidentiary ruling was well within the trial court's purview, and Carlson offers no meaningful argument to the contrary. Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals observed, even if more of this evidence had been admitted, it "would not have cured Carlson's proof problem" because she failed to establish that "Boeing had notice of her disability and fired her because of it." Op. 27.

Third, Carlson fails to establish that the trial court's decision allowing the introduction of evidence from her past performance reviews and journal entries was error. This evidentiary ruling, too, was decidedly within the trial court's discretion. And the Court of Appeals once again found that the claimed error did not prejudice Carlson since she "did not

establish notice." *Id.* at 26. In all events, routine evidentiary rulings are hardly grounds for this Court's review.

Finally, the Court should swiftly reject Carlson's request that it evaluate the Court of Appeals's refusal to review the denial of her motion for summary judgment. It is black-letter law that "[a] summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed." *Canfield v. Clark*, 196 Wn. App. 191, 194 (2016) (citation omitted). Because the trial court found that disputed issues of fact made summary judgment inappropriate, that ruling was unreviewable by the Court of Appeals, and it remains unreviewable here. Similarly, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Carlson's arguments for judgment as a matter of law for the reasons already discussed. Substantial evidence refuted Carlson's assertions that Boeing discriminated against her based on the alleged disability.

## IV. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the Court should deny Carlson's petition for review.